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			Raymond Bailey, known to his family and friends as Ray, was born on 26 January 1919 in Chester-­le-­Street, County Durham. He was the eldest of two sons born to William and Margaret Bailey. William was still on post-­First World War service with the Royal Navy at the time of Ray’s birth but before and after the war he worked as a miner. When Ray was a boy, the Bailey family uprooted and moved almost 250 miles south to Bedfordshire, where William took up work as a labourer at the Vauxhall Motor Works in Luton. The Bailey family made its new home in the nearby town of Dunstable. After Ray left school (probably at the age of fourteen), he also went to work at Vauxhall as an apprentice lathe operator. In September 1939, Ray was among the first wave of young men called up to fight in the Second World War. Ten months later he found himself among the 10,000 or so British soldiers forced to surrender to the German army after the Battle of St Valery in France.1
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			The publisher and editor of The Longest Walk Home are extremely grateful to Raymond Bailey’s closest living relative, Pamela Roy, for recognising the importance of Ray’s account, and for so positively embracing the idea that his experiences deserve the widest possible audience.
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			Ray’s complete original manuscript, written in sixteen separate notebooks.

		

		

	
		

		
			Editor’s note 

			Sixteen notebooks in a box

			In the autumn of 2018, a cardboard box containing a collection of old notebooks, plus various old photographs, newspaper cuttings and letters was sold at auction. The buyer was local to the saleroom, which was located in northern England. A year or so later, the box and its contents were put up for sale again, this time in an auction online. I’ve been buying collections like this for decades. I love the mystery of the bundled papers, the human stories adrift from their moorings. I spotted the sale online and bid for the box. But I was beaten to it. I kicked myself for not being prepared to pay more but soon forgot about the intriguing box. There’s always another auction sale around the corner.

			Three months or so later I was idly browsing online auctions again when I came across the same collection of papers up for sale once more. I emailed the seller. It turned out that the previous sale had fallen through. The winning bidder was in another country and the seller hadn’t wanted the trouble of packing and posting this large box of stuff to him. This time, not wanting to make the same mistake again, I made a decent offer, which the seller accepted. A week later the box and its contents were delivered to my door.

			

			The online description of the contents of the box had been fairly vague. The seller had written that he had not done much more than glance through the notebooks, which contained lots of writing. He had formed the impression they told the story of a British soldier captured by the Germans during the Second World War. It looked like the soldier may somehow have escaped and had possibly made it all the way home to England.

			When I opened the box, I couldn’t believe what I had stumbled upon. The notebooks did indeed turn out to contain a handwritten account by a British soldier – 21-­year-­old Private Raymond Bailey – of his escape from a prisoner-­of-­war column in northern France. His account had been written out twice over, once as a rough draft and then meticulously, in unusually neat handwriting, as a finished manuscript, filling sixteen notebooks. All told, the manuscript contained over 80,000 words, making it about the length of a medium-­sized novel. I opened three or four of the notebooks at random and read a few pages in each. I could see immediately that here was a young man who wrote well and with confidence. His clear, straightforward storytelling was effortlessly engaging. There and then I realised that not only was this the best find I’d ever had, it was going to deserve a much bigger audience.

			Private Bailey (henceforth ‘Ray’) had been conscripted in 1939 and served with the 1st Battalion Princess Louise’s Kensington Regiment, generally known as ‘the Kensingtons’. He had been captured in June 1940 alongside 25,000 other British and French troops at the Battle of St Valery, one of the most catastrophic defeats of the war for the Allied Forces. As the seller suggested, Ray had subsequently escaped from a prisoner-­of-­war column. After several months and an epic 2,000-­mile adventure-­packed journey, he had finally made it back to England. He arrived home just in time for Christmas. On 13 December Ray was front-­page news in his home-­town newspaper, the Dunstable Gazette:

			

			 

			DUNSTABLE SOLDIER’S ESCAPE FROM NAZIS

			Quick Wits Overcame ‘Spots Of Bother’

			 

			When the full story of a young Dunstable soldier’s escape from his German guards can be told – and there are obvious reasons why his method of escape cannot be described in detail now – it will be a story of courage and determination, of the never-­say-­die spirit, which overcame apparently insuperable obstacles, of hunger and privations bravely borne, but rewarded at last by freedom . . .

			 . . . It was in June of this year that Pte Bailey was taken prisoner but the thrilling story of his escape can only be told when those who aided him to regain his liberty are no longer within reach of Nazi vengeance. Details of his wanderings, of illness brought on by privations – there was one period when he had no food for five days – and of his own quick-­wittedness in avoiding recapture on numerous occasions, must await happier times before they can be told with safety.

			 

			That long-­ago local journalist could not have imagined that the wait would be more than eighty years – but at last, in this book, in his own original words, Ray Bailey’s extraordinary story is finally being told.
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			Ray’s story made the front page of the Dunstable Gazette, 13 December 1940.

			

			And extraordinary the story really is. Ray was a young, inexperienced, working-­class lad who almost certainly had no formal education beyond the age of fourteen. He had never been outside of his native country before boarding a troopship to France. He spoke no language other than English. After his escape, he had no access to information about the state of the war or the wider political situation. He knew nothing of the laws, customs and behaviours of either France or Spain, the two countries through which he had to travel to get home. For much of the time he had no money. He had no means of transport. He only rarely managed to see a map. He was unarmed. And most challengingly of all perhaps, he was mostly alone.

			But Ray’s story – whether he intended it to be so or not – is more than a series of exploits and perils, more than a tale of grim survival. It speaks to us about the importance of comradeship and the sense of having a loyalty to something greater than oneself. It gives us stark insights into what it is to be alone in the face of fear and unknowing. Even more so though, it shows us that optimism, humour and faith in the future can be powerful forces in coping with adversity.

			Ray keeps himself going, in other words, by whistling in the dark. There are times in his story when it is oddly possible to forget that he is in a war at all. He prefers to recall the expressions of human goodness that he encountered on his journey, rather than dwell on the inhumanity and death that he witnessed. He is sheltered, fed and clothed (and, on more than one occasion, actively rescued) by ordinary French and Spanish working people – people like himself, and his mum and dad. These people have little enough to spare and expect never to see Ray again, yet they treat him with warmth and affection. It took no small degree of courage to assist an escaped British PoW in occupied France in 1940. The situation was very similar under Franco’s post-­revolutionary, quasi-­fascist dictatorship in Spain. Even in the unoccupied southern half of France, sheltering a British soldier would bring reprisals from the authorities.

			

			Ray’s account of his experiences challenges perceptions. Most people would regard a man who escapes a PoW column and makes it home against all odds as a hero. But there is nothing obviously of the hero in Ray’s appearance. He tells us good-­humouredly and more than once that he is just a ‘little fellow’. In the two photographs of him that we have he looks slight and boyish. He is certainly no great shakes as a soldier. To use his own words again, he is regarded by his superiors as ‘generally a spare man’, someone not thought capable of being useful in any particular way. Ray is not great at abiding by the rules either. He is no stranger to disciplinary action for minor misdemeanours.

			Ray, therefore, lacks almost all the physical and personal qualities that are generally thought of as ‘heroic’. He is not physically imposing. He hasn’t the calm self-­discipline of a regular soldier. He can’t fall back on the social graces that might help a young officer out of a tight spot. Eighty years after the event, trying to puzzle out exactly what it was about this young man that enabled him to escape from captivity and make it all the way home is one of the most absorbing aspects of his story.

			 

			For thirty months or so after Ray rejoined his regiment following his escape, the 1st Kensingtons remained in the UK. Initially they were deployed on home defence duties along the Kent coast. Subsequently they were involved in a series of intensive training exercises at various locations in the south-­east of England. These circumstances, though by no means ideal, probably made it easier for Ray to work on his story than it would have been if the Kensingtons had been sent back overseas.

			

			Very close to the end of his manuscript, Ray mentions that he is writing five months after his return to England. That suggests the first draft was well under way – possibly even almost complete – by the early summer of 1941. If Ray had continued to work on his manuscript at the same pace, then the final draft could conceivably have been finished as soon as the end of 1941, barely a year after his return to England. It is impossible to know for sure though; none of Ray’s notebooks is dated. Progress on the manuscript may have slowed as he moved from the excitement of first getting his experiences down on paper to the slog of organising his account into a logical and readable final version. Even allowing for this possibility however, it seems reasonably certain that the final draft would have been completed well before the end of 1942, when the Kensingtons were put on standby for a return to active service overseas.

			This narrow timescale highlights a particularly interesting aspect of Ray’s story – its sense of immediacy. The great majority of eye-­witness wartime memoirs were written and published decades later, largely between the 1960s and 1980s. It is easy to see why this was so. It is widely documented in interviews with ex-­servicemen that in the years immediately after the war, many did not want to recall their experiences on active service. After all, they had forfeited their youth; witnessed death, destruction and misery; and survived chaos on the grand scale. Many had had terrible experiences they could never hope to forget. When the war was over, they wanted the luxurious ordinariness of family life, home, friendships and a steady job.

			

			This is all perfectly understandable – but in terms of the written record, it means that when veterans did come to write, their recollections were filtered through the lens of memory and mediated by their later life experiences. What you read in this book, on the other hand, was written by a young man who was recalling recent events with clarity. He was still the same person to whom the events had happened. This is not, for a moment, to suggest that Ray’s account is ‘better’ than memoirs written decades later. It is simply to observe that it offers a different perspective. Ray’s account of his experiences, with its informal style, its episodic format and its liberal mixing of the light-­hearted with the serious, is in some ways nearer in style to an unscripted contemporary video diary than it is to the more considered and reflective war memoirs with which we are more familiar.

			In discussing Ray’s story from the point of view of the historical record like this, there are two factors associated with its writing that make it both important and unique. The first is, as we have seen, that Ray wrote his account so soon after the events he describes, and that those events happened within the first fourteen months of the war. It is highly likely, therefore, that this book contains the earliest long-­form, eye-­witness account of active service in the Second World War to have been written by a British soldier. Second, given that Ray was aged only twenty-­one or twenty-­two when he wrote his story, it is probable that he is now the youngest soldier-­writer ever to have published an account of his wartime experiences. The combination of these factors gives us something special. Through the noise of the intervening decades, you can hear in Ray’s writing the authentic voice of hundreds of thousands of young British soldiers of the Second World War: young men, many of them barely more than boys, away from home and family, finding themselves suddenly in a frightening and disorientating world in which they must cope as best they can.

			

			In this book then, Ray is speaking to us in pretty much the same way that any other young conscript might have spoken of his experiences at the time. But Ray took a big step further: he wrote his story down. What drove him to do that? Well, hidden among the items in the original box was a clue: a hardback notebook that pre-­dated Ray’s army call-­up. On its first seventy pages were more than 10,000 words in Ray’s usual tidy script. These were the confidently well-­written opening chapters of what he clearly intended eventually to be a full-­length crime thriller. It seems possible that he only stopped working on this embryonic novel because the Second World War got in the way. In other words, Ray may have hoped for a future as a writer.

			We know, therefore, that Ray liked to write and was capable of sticking at the job. But does that mean that he could write well? You’ll soon see that he could. His zippy and succinct prose style is well-­suited to his subject matter and – you feel – is probably also reflective of the young man himself. His account of his wartime experiences has needed little attention from me. What you read in this book is pretty much unchanged from Ray’s original pencilled manuscript. All I needed to do was tidy up the grammar and the sentence construction in places and remove the odd passage that got in the way of the narrative. I’ve done nothing more than any professional editor would have done, had Ray submitted his manuscript for publication at the time – indeed, I think I’ve probably done rather less.

			

			I have made only two significant interventions into the text itself. The first has been to identify as many dates as I can for the events Ray describes, and to insert those dates directly into the text. (Ray gives only one date in his entire original manuscript.) The second is to correct Ray’s numerous misspellings of Franch and Spanish place names. I have given every town, village and hamlet in the book its proper name, correctly spelled in all cases, barring any errors of my own. For anyone who wishes to do so, it is now possible to track Ray’s entire epic journey on a map.

			I don’t mean to be fanciful about this but from the moment fate gave me that unexpected second chance to act as custodian of Ray’s manuscript, it has seemed my responsibility to make the story public. And by the way, I strongly believe that Ray wanted his story to be published. He had an extraordinary experience, and he wanted us to know about it. I also believe that his story has important things to say to us. Ray’s words are a unique and precious survival; a lost hoard disturbed from the earth by a turn of the plough. We are lucky to have them.

			 

			David Wilkins

			Isle of Portland, 2025
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			A snapshot found among Ray’s papers, with Ray (presumed), second right.

		

		
			
			

		

		

		
			
			

		

	
		

		
			Chapter 1

			Becoming a soldier

			Six years before this story begins, on 26 January 1933, at the family home in Dunstable, Raymond Bailey celebrated his fourteenth birthday. He must have looked forward to what would be a milestone year in his young life. That summer he would leave school and enter the world of work.

			Four days later, on 30 January 1933, 700 miles away in Berlin, a fiery nationalist politician named Adolf Hitler was officially appointed Chancellor of Germany. Hitler’s elevation to power had followed two inconclusive general elections marred by violence and intimidation. In the second of these elections Hitler’s party, the Nationalsozialistische Deutsche Arbeiterpartei, most usually abbreviated outside Germany to the ‘Nazi Party’, had secured the largest share of the vote and consequently, the dominant position in the Reichstag, the German parliament. Within eighteen months of taking power, this unconstrained new government had transformed Germany into a one-­party state with Hitler as its official ‘Führer und Reichskanzler’ (Leader and Chancellor). Or more commonly, simply, Der Führer.

			In the meantime, in England, Ray Bailey had grown from boy to young man and was living the kind of orderly British life that his dad had fought to preserve in the First World War. By the end of the 1930s, Ray was safely on his way to becoming a skilled lathe operator with a stable job in the motor industry. He would have enjoyed all the commonplace pleasures available to young people of that period: evenings in the pub with his mates; taking girls out dancing or to the pictures; the occasional variety show; and maybe Saturday afternoons on the terraces at Luton Town. But that normality was about to come to an end. On 1 September 1939, Hitler’s troops invaded Poland. Two days later Great Britain and France, honouring their treaty agreements with Poland, declared war on Germany. The second global military conflict of the twentieth century had begun.

			

			Within days of the declaration Britain began to mobilise its forces. Pre-­emptive legislation passed earlier in the year had already made provision that men aged between twenty and twenty-­two could be called up as soon as war began. Ray was now twenty. He was one of hundreds of thousands of conscripts, reservists and early volunteers now reporting to military bases around the country. There they would face up to their unplanned – and disturbingly uncertain – new futures.

			Turning such an enormous number of recruits into an effective fighting force in a short time was a monumental challenge. This was especially true for the conscripts. Few of these men would have considered joining the services but for the war. Most, like Ray, had jobs and future plans that were now disrupted indefinitely. And of course, although they had been deemed old enough to fight, they were manifestly still very young.

			On the opening day of Ray’s story, we find him in civilian clothes, seated on a train. He is travelling to the base in North London where his basic training will begin. He is nervous . . .

			The train to Mill Hill was a slow one, not that I really minded for it allowed me time to think. It was 16 October 1939, and I was going to join the army.* I had no idea of what the army was like and visualised the most dreadful ordeals ahead of me.

			Outside the barrack gates at Mill Hill, I met a regimental policeman who showed me into the barracks. He led me across the square to the gymnasium which was being used to receive recruits. Here I met more young men who had just been called up. We had a medical examination and went over to a table where a lance corporal wrote down a lot of particulars.

			We were split into squads and marched to our barrack rooms. After dinner, which I thought was pretty foul, we went round to the quartermaster’s store, where we were issued with kit. For some reason or other we did not get our battledress until the next day, so we had to stay in that night. When we did get it, I found mine had no buttons on the trousers. It took me a whole day to borrow enough buttons – and a whole evening to sew them on.

			Our first few days of training consisted of foot-­drill and of learning to march and salute. We were issued with rifles and had a lecture in the NAAFI1 by Company Sergeant Major Stacey. He impressed upon us that, although we were in uniform, we were only recruits and not soldiers. We were not to go around in battledress pretending we were heroes: ‘Because you’re not!’

			

			After the lecture, we were taught how to load and unload our rifles with dummy rounds. We were shown how to sight the rifle and the various positions to fire our rifles from. After this, our lives became one continuous programme of arms drill and physical training. Once we had mastered the rifle we were introduced to the Vickers machine gun. First, we were acquainted with the names of the various parts and we learned to fire a few rounds on the thirty-­yard range. ‘To get the feel of the gun,’ as CSM Stacey would say, ‘and to prove the bullets come out of the muzzle end, where they can’t hurt you – so no need to be afraid of it.’ After this came E.G.D. – elementary gun drill – which consisted of nothing but mounting and unmounting the gun on the barrack square, correctly and in the shortest possible time. This was the cause of much sweat, strained tempers and busted buttons.

			Gas sentry duty was our chief bogey. The idea was to patrol the barracks observing the yellow gas detectors that were placed at intervals. In order to carry out these simple duties, we were harnessed in equipment: steel helmet, rifle and bayonet, a huge anti-­gas cape, mittens, respirator, whistle, rattle and eye shields. Thus attired, a pair of us would perambulate round the barracks in the dead of night looking like a decontamination squad.

			After the months in Recruit Company, we were transferred to No. 2 Machine Gun Company to complete our training. Here I met Humphries. He came from Dagenham. The next time I met him was in a German prison camp, where he borrowed my razor.

			Our training at Mill Hill was terminated by a trip to Bisley, where we fired a course. During the short time that followed we did many route marches. Even route marches in those days were rather happy affairs. We would swing along, straining our lungs to see who could sing the loudest. Always we would sing our little ditty:

			

			 

			‘Why don’t they send away the Old Diehards?

			Why don’t they send away the boys?

			Every man in the regiment

			Is willing to do or die – I don’t think!

			Why don’t they send away the Old Diehards?

			They’re second to the navy on the sea

			If it wasn’t for the Old Diehards

			Where would England be?’2

			 

			. . . and that question was answered by a rude reply from the rear. But I often thought as I marched along, maybe one day they will send away the Old Diehards. And one day they did.

			In late November, we were sent on a draft [permanently transferred] to the 1st Kensingtons. There were about thirty of us. We had blanco-­ed our equipment3 and cleaned the brasses as it was broadly hinted that this was customary in the regiment we were going to. A train from Paddington took us to Taunton, where we changed on to a local for Ilminster in Somerset. This train travelled very slowly and stopped at every station, but it finally got us there. We were marched up the hill to the village and were taken to the HQ Company billet, the ‘Shirt Factory’. Everything seemed pretty well organised. Tea was ready when we arrived and all we had to do was sit down and eat it. During the meal we were issued with Kensington cap badges.

			

			We soon got down to the routine in the Kensingtons and gradually the draft that had arrived from Mill Hill was dispersed among the Machine Gun Company until only three or four of us remained in HQ. They were Carter, Francis, Elma and myself. We all slept on the top floor of the Shirt Factory, which was very convenient. It took the Orderly Sergeant some time to reach the top floor, so I could always have an extra lie in bed at reveille. That was one of my weaknesses.

			It was here I met John Suttle – ‘Gus’ he was nicknamed – and we became great friends. Our favourite outing was a Saturday afternoon hitch-­hike to Taunton. It was twelve miles away and out of bounds without a pass but little things like that did not worry us in the least. Besides this, the M.T. [motor transport unit] ran an unofficial taxi service to Taunton and you could be there in no time at all by the simple process of passing round the hat.

			In HQ, we would start the day with a ‘gargle parade’ before breakfast and woe betide anyone who tried to dodge it.4 At eight o’clock we would parade under Company Sergeant Major Butler. He would start with a rifle inspection. Sometimes I managed to scrape through this only to be hauled over the coals for some silly little mistake in arms drill. The result was that I would be sorted out along with a few others into what CSM Butler called his ‘awkward squad’ because, he said, we spoiled his parade. This was generally followed by a few fatigues.5 These were usually of the cookhouse variety – but we often skipped them and had a quite a long break, during which we rushed across the square, crowding into Mary’s Café for a cup of tea and a doughnut.

			I was generally a ‘spare man’. Probably they thought I wasn’t capable of being anything else. On 11 December when we went on an exercise, Gus and I were turned overnight into stretcher bearers. We paraded outside the Medical Officer’s office the night before to collect our stretcher and receive the usual detailed instructions. These were that we would go with ‘A’ Company, joining them outside the Sergeant’s Mess at 0530 hours.

			

			Five-­thirty came and went, and we were still snoring loudly in bed. We awoke about ten past six. Rolling up our blankets and harnessing ourselves into battle order, we grabbed the stretcher and hurried off to the appointed meeting place, kidding ourselves it was 6:30 and not 5:30 we were supposed to meet them. Of course, there were no ‘A’ Company trucks in sight when we got there. We returned to the billet where – after getting a piece of the Sergeant Major’s mind – we went on the exercise with our own HQ Company.

			It was still dark when we piled into the back of an overloaded 30 hundredweight lorry and headed off for Dorsetshire. We travelled for some time and the morning wore on. Convoy speeds are never fast at the best of times. We passed other troops and from the back of our truck, we laughed at the infantry who had to march. The company harboured at Melbury Deer Park and here we established our Regimental Aid Post. Being only a mock war though, we had no stretcher cases to deal with – not that we could have dealt with them if we had. We therefore had a lot of spare time. I’m quite unashamed to admit that we spent that time in making rabbit snares – but I am ashamed to admit we didn’t catch a single rabbit.

			We spent the night in the open. It was the first time that I had ever slept out at night. The majority of the men had booked up sleeping accommodation in the trucks but Gus and I, being only spare men and returning late from a hunting expedition, had to do the best we could in the open. Using our stretchers as beds, we rigged up a bivouac affair with a tarpaulin sheet from one of the trucks. Of course, both ends of our tent were open, but we succeeded in blocking one end with our packs and haversacks. The other end we left open. Our feet stuck out of it anyway. We had just nicely settled down for the night when we heard someone stumbling about outside in the darkness. It was the Medical Officer. ‘Do you want any beer?’ he asked.

			

			That shook us. It was an unusual question to be asked by an officer in the middle of the night. Not knowing what to say we simply answered, ‘Yes!’

			‘How many are there of you?’

			‘Two,’ answered Gus.

			Two bottles of beer were shoved into the tent. We regarded this unexpected gift for a full minute then burst out laughing. What a lovely war it was!

			

			
				
						* The date of Ray’s journey to Mill Hill is assumed from a letter written home the day after his arrival. His initial impressions were mixed: ‘It isn’t too bad except for the food, which is vile.’


				

			

			
				

		

	
		

		
			Chapter 2

			To France

			Soon, Ray Bailey and his comrades in the 1st Battalion Kensington Regiment were ordered to France. Slightly confusingly, on its arrival there, the 1st Kensington Battalion separates into two sections. The majority of the battalion – probably around three-­quarters of its strength (600–700 men) – heads off to join the British Expeditionary Force (BEF) on the Franco-­Belgian border. Ray, however, is allocated to the Kensingtons’ reinforcement company, which is left behind at a base camp not far inland from Le Havre where the battalion disembarked. Because of his separation from the main body of the battalion, Ray is not in a position to know what is happening to them. Fortunately the Kensington Regiment’s official history allows us to put the pieces together.

			The British government had ordered that troops be sent to France almost immediately after the declaration of war. Britain’s objective was to assist French troops in defending against the German invasion, which at that time was expected imminently. It was believed that the main thrust of the German attack on France would occur along that stretch of the Franco-­Belgian border nearest the Channel coast. The great majority of the British Expeditionary Force was therefore stationed in that area.

			

			As it happened, the German attack on France did not occur as soon as was anticipated. For all sides, the war began with eight months of waiting for something to happen. Britain used the hiatus to build up numbers. It is estimated that by May 1940 there were 400,000 British soldiers in France. The Kensingtons were among the last British troops to arrive before the German army finally invaded.

			As mentioned, the main body of the 1st Kensingtons travelled to Armentières near the Belgian border. The First Line Reinforcement Company, the small unit of the Kensingtons to which Ray had been allocated, was not needed and had been left behind at Rouvrey Camp, a British base camp near Rouen. The idea was that men from the reinforcement company would be called for as and when they were required.

			On the very day the main body of the Kensingtons arrived in Armentières, their commanding officer was informed that plans had changed and the Kensingtons were now to become part of the 51st (Highland) Division. The 51st had already been deployed to the Saar region, on the border between France and Germany, over 250 miles south-­east of where the Kensingtons had just arrived. As the name implies, the bulk of the troops making up the 51st (Highland) Division came from the Scottish Highlands and Islands. The Kensingtons were one of two machine gun battalions attached to the division. Their job was to provide covering fire for the Scottish infantrymen who would help French troops to patrol the German border.

			The Saar region contained a valuable and strategically important coalfield. Ownership of the coalfield and its associated industrial assets had long been a matter of dispute between France and Germany. The declaration of war had renewed old hostilities and sparked skirmishing along this section of the border as each side fought to snatch territory from the other. The troops positioned along the French side of the border had previously been entirely drawn from the French army. The British High Command had now decided that this low-­level fighting was an ideal setting to give British forces, particularly territorial (part-­time) forces, like the Highland and Islands men and the Kensingtons, some practical experience of military action.

			

			This deployment inevitably meant there would be direct engagement between the men of the Kensington Regiment and the German forces raiding across the border. At this time, the conflict in the Saar was the only military engagement taking place between the Allied and German forces anywhere in France. The Kensingtons suddenly found themselves among the small minority of British soldiers to see action prior to the German invasion.

			Back at the base camp in Rouen, Ray and the others in the reinforcement company had no way of knowing that their comrades had been relocated. On their arrival on the Saar Front, however, the main body of the Kensingtons sent orders for a number of men from the First Line Reinforcements to join them. Among those called for was Ray Bailey.

			 

			 

			We soon began to witness our unit’s preparations. The battalion was ready to move, France being the destination. Gus and I became separated. He went to ‘D’ Company. I went to First Line Reinforcements under Captain Williamson, whom I remembered well for he gave me my first seven days jankers.1

			

			Our transport was the first to go. The rest of the battalion followed a few days later. I shall never forget 13 April 1940, the day we marched out of Ilminster on our way to France. How very different from the day we marched in. I think the whole village turned out to see us off – the Kensingtons were very well liked. There were many waving hands and shouts of ‘Goodbye’ and ‘Don’t forget to write!’ but only tender regrets and a few aching hearts were left to show that the Kensingtons had passed that way.2

			We went to Southampton by train where, after the usual wastes of time, we arrived at the docks. In one of the hangars, Sergeant Tobin gave us a demonstration on how to use the lifebelt. This put the wind up most of us. Each man was issued with a lifebelt as he went on board. Everyone claimed a cabin, but we (the First Line Reinforcements) were shoved into the Ladies’ Saloon, where we slept on the floor. It was an ex-­LNER boat, the Amsterdam.3

			Supper was Maconochie’s, cold and straight from the tin.* I mean straight from the tin only in a sense for it was discovered that there were only two tin-­openers! There were several hundred men at each meal – so there were two very hard-­worked men on that boat. The convoy sailed about midnight, but we were all snug down below, or as snug as we could be on the floor of the Ladies’ Saloon. We had just made ourselves comfortable when we were ordered on deck again to receive instructions on what we could and could not do.

			

			I remember waking very early the next morning. The ship was rolling pretty badly. Looking out of a porthole, I found that the wind had sprung up and the sea was rather rough. A long coastline lay ahead. Closing the porthole, I concentrated on breakfast. It was Maconochie’s again. I didn’t eat all mine. Perhaps it was the excitement. Perhaps it was the boat. Or perhaps it was the Maconochie’s itself. I don’t know.

			Soon we glided into the harbour at Le Havre. We were met by a tug manned by very noisy Frenchmen and tied up along the jetty. Clambering into full marching order, we went on deck. Everywhere was a scene of activity. Hatches were opened and cargo was slung onshore. There was much hustle and bustle. But the troops onboard just waited and waited. I began to think we were forgotten.

			After everything had quietened down and the jetty had assumed its normal appearance, a couple of Rail Transport Officers appeared. They had a conflab with our own officers, and we were allowed to disembark. We fell in on the jetty and were marched down the road to a concrete hangar next to the railway station, where we were allowed to take off our packs and rest. By now it was dinner time, so we had Maconochie’s again. I was able to see Gus. We discussed France in particular, telling each other what we thought about it. We both thought the same.

			

			I think this resting business lasted for a couple of hours, during which we had our English money – those who had any – changed into French. How amazed we were to see the number of centime pieces we had to have to make a tanner and the thick wad of notes we got for hardly anything at all.4 Eventually we were assembled and put into a very dilapidated train. Destination unknown. I did not think much of the French countryside. It seemed barren and was dotted with many tumbledown barns. We were to learn a lot more about these barns later on.

			The train rattled on. Rumours went around – as rumours do – that we were going to the base at Rouen. Now Rouen, we knew, was by far the biggest town in that part of France, so we clapped our hands, thinking there would be no billeting on muddy farms for us. But our spirits fell when the train stopped at a tiny little station and we were told to get out. Thirty seconds later we were told to get back in. It was the wrong station . . .

			Later we arrived at our destination, but it was not Rouen. It was a small town, Yvetot. We thought ourselves lucky to have got a town at all, but once more our jubilation was short-­lived for our transport, which had come over a week before, collected us and dumped us at a miserable barn, miles from anywhere. Our detachment was billeted by itself away from the rest of the battalion. HQ company was in a chateau a mile up the road – much to our regret, for we had to march there and back every mealtime.

			I looked around our billet. It was a large barn, big enough to hold a regiment and had about two feet of straw on the floor. We stuffed up the holes in the walls for it was like a sieve. My comrades cursed their luck, for they didn’t like the place. I cursed mine, for I was now separated from Gus. Then it rained for several days, so we all cursed again. This barn was situated in the orchard of a little farm and to reach the main road it was necessary to wade through the muddiest farmyard it is possible to imagine.

			

			Fortunately, we did not stay there for long as the main body of the battalion left Yvetot on 17 April and went to Armentières on the Belgian border to join up with the BEF. We [the First Line Reinforcements] left Yvetot soon after but ours was a destination unknown. The rumour again was that we were going to Rouen. Naturally, none of us believed it this time – until we saw Rouen out of the carriage windows. Very slowly the train entered Rouen station but glided out the other end just as slowly. It finally stopped at Oissel, about five miles further on. Here we got out and surveyed our dismal surroundings. It wasn’t a station at all but a collection of railway sidings. There were detachments of troops everywhere of at least a dozen different regiments all lined up and ready to march off to the infantry base – which was back towards Rouen. This ‘going to Rouen’ business was monotonous!

			We marched off with them and that march proved to be one of the nastiest bits of exercise I’d had for some time. First the raucous voice of Sgt Jones started off with some crude barrack-­room song about four and twenty virgins who went to a ball at some place called Ballymore. We rattled along in our full marching order and ‘blanket rolled’, breaking our necks to march faster than a famous regiment of light infantry who were just in front of us. The infantry seemed to know what was going on, for they speeded up, but we passed them on a hill where they all fell out for a five-­minute smoke rather than suffer the humiliation of being out-­marched by a mechanised unit.

			

			We went over rough roads and moorland country until we arrived at a military camp only to discover that it was the wrong one. There appeared to be some misunderstanding, so we sat down to rest while the officers fought it out among themselves. It had been a very hot day and, as if the gods had heard our cry for water, it began to rain – but they must have over-­estimated our thirst for it began to rain harder and harder until it came down in a solid deluge. By the time we were nicely soaked to the skin a couple of trucks arrived and carted us off to the right camp. We were very hungry when we got there but enjoyed a supper of tea, corned beef and a packet of hard oatmeal biscuits.

			Life at No. 1 Infantry Camp was tolerable and quite pleasant compared to the usual standard in France. I admit we were under canvas, and it rained a good deal, but we were quite comfortable. We did not stay long at Rouen. We never stayed long anywhere but I managed to have a good look round the town with Coombs and Gayler. On our way back to camp it was our habit to buy the Paris-Soir from a woman who sold papers at the corner of the bridge and with the aid of a French/English dictionary, endeavour to translate it or at least, I did. Coombs could speak both French and German. Nor did I leave Rouen without doing seven days jankers.

			So far the only guard we had ever done was the Motor Transport picket out in the middle of Watery Lane, Ilminster.5 There, we had only Capt. ‘Tubby’ Milton to contend with and he always inspected the sentries in an umpteen horsepower Humber Snipe, which betrayed his presence whenever he was in it by the fact that it was always well down on the springs. Of a ‘pukka’ guard,6 we had no idea, so we rehearsed it under Sgt Tobin, who was to be guard commander. The result was most amazing. The RSM, who I had had assumed would have a fit, actually proclaimed it was the best guard he had ever mounted. Of course, this went to our heads. We pranced up and down in front of the guard room like Grenadier Guards. I remember during the afternoon when I was doing my ‘two on’, there seemed to be a million officers about. I was constantly marching up and down, stopping, turning to the front, saluting or presenting arms.

			

			All this was very fatiguing so, in order to conserve my energy, I came up to the ‘present’ and stayed there. This proved very successful at first, even with the subalterns who smiled to themselves – but suddenly a captain appeared. He saw the ‘present’ and gave me a nasty look, so I decided to discontinue the practice. I had been standing at ease for a few minutes when I realised that I had an audience. Several men in the detention room were crowded at the window, looking at me, mystified.

			‘Hey, Joe!’ I heard one shout to someone else in the room. ‘Have you seen this sentry outside? You should see him march up and down. When he turns, he stamps his feet like a Prussian.’

			‘Bet he’s in a pukka mob,’ said another.

			Somebody mentioned the Kensingtons. Then the owner of the loud voice shouted again, ‘Hey, Joe! Do you know the Kensingtons?’

			‘Never ’eard of ’em,’ came the reply.

			

			Once we had an air raid of the ‘tip-­and-­run’ variety, a couple of bombs being dropped on the city. There was quite a lot of tracer about, plenty of ‘flaming onions’ and a devil of a noise.7 But that was all. It was nothing to write home about, even if you could.

			At last the day arrived when the majority of us were sent to join the battalion which, to the best of our knowledge, was somewhere at the front.8 Back we marched to Oissel where, to our disgust, we discovered we were to travel in horseboxes. We waited around the railway station for ages but were entertained by Pte King, who made jokes and funny remarks from time to time. You could hear his cheery voice whenever anything went wrong, ‘You can’t help laughing, can yer?’

			Finally, we all clambered into the horseboxes. On the door it said ‘8 chevaux. 40 hommes.’ In our wagon there were thirty men but how the French could get forty in will forever be a mystery. As it was, we were overcrowded and sleeping was difficult. One would constantly hear groans as someone turned over and kicked someone else in the face. Once more Pte King came to the rescue and played us to sleep with ‘Jeepers, Creepers’ on his trumpet.

			When we awoke the next morning, the train had arrived at Arras. Alongside the railway were a number of large wooden tubs filled with water, so we were able to wash and shave. Breakfast was of corned beef and biscuits. This proved to be the usual menu for every meal during the journey, except of course when we had Maconochie’s. The journey was dull and we had not the slightest idea where we were going. Our next stop was Lillers, where the train was shoved into a siding. Here we stayed for a few hours at a ‘rest camp’, an old warehouse where we had a hot meal. This time it was ‘soup’ but made from Maconochie’s.

			

			Once back in our horseboxes there was much shunting about, and we left the other troops who were travelling with us and evidently bound for the Belgian frontier and resumed our journey to some unknown destination. The train went back the way it had come then it turned south, arousing our curiosity to a large degree. ‘Where on earth are we going?’ everyone asked – but no one seemed to know.

			It was a monotonously slow train. It crawled along at such a speed that we could easily have got out and run along beside it. During the night it stopped at Laon, where we got out to stretch our legs and in our best French, tried pumping the station staff as to where our train was going. An elderly guard drew a rough map of France on the ground with his stick and not only showed us where the train was going but where it had come from. He traced the entire journey with his stick and told us we were going to Metz.

			

			
				
						* Maconochie’s was a tinned soup or stew made by the company of the same name in Aberdeen. It was first issued to British troops in the Boer War, then again during the First World War and was still standard issue at the beginning of the Second World War. It was generally made of carrots, turnips and potatoes. By some accounts it also sometimes included scraps of meat. Maconochie’s was made to be eaten either cold or hot (it was heated by boiling the tin in water for half an hour). As a foodstuff it was widely recognised as being of doubtful quality. It was said to be tolerable when hot (depending on how hungry you were) but was considered inedible by many servicemen when served cold, as in this case.


				

			

		

		

		
			
			

		

	
		

		
			Chapter 3

			Action on the Saar Front and a withdrawal

			On 10 May 1940, the day after Ray and the other reinforcements arrived on the Saar Front, the long-­threatened German invasion of France finally began. Germany first attacked Holland, Belgium and Luxembourg, sweeping rapidly southwards towards Belgium’s border with France. The main thrust of the invasion reached the French border within a week by powering through the Ardennes region of Belgium, more than 100 miles (160 kilometres) east of where the BEF and the bulk of the French forces were concentrated.

			This primary area of German attack was poorly defended by comparison with the area where the Allies had expected the invasion to come. French military planners had believed that the steep hills and dense forest in the Ardennes made it more or less impossible that the Germans would attempt to enter France by that route. They had, however, reckoned without the technical advances that Germany had made in respect of its tanks and armoured vehicles – not to mention the military superiority of its highly motivated and intensively trained soldiers.

			Inevitably, the events in northern France brought an escalation of activity on the Saar Front. On 13 May there was a noticeable increase in Germany artillery use and on 15 May a full-­scale assault began. These happen to be the self-­same few days that Ray is pitched into active service for the first time. Ray was twenty-­one . . . Only a few months before he had been living at home with his mum and dad. Like some of the other conscripted men around him, he had had precious little military training and no experience of combat. The suddenness, and the monumental scale of the transition faced by these young men in the moments the first bullets flew and the first shells burst, is impossible to imagine.

			

			 

			 

			To cut a dreary journey short we did eventually arrive at Metz. Some trucks were awaiting our arrival and conveyed us to the other side of the town. Our barracks were once German cavalry barracks built when Metz was a German town. As it was, Metz still had quite a large German population and we were not allowed to go into the town itself without a special pass. This, of course, was never granted. The boys were disappointed for they had seen some pretty girls on their way through.

			We soon learned that the rest of our battalion was somewhere in front of the Maginot Line and on 9 May, about three days after our arrival in Metz, a few of our trucks arrived to take us there. We chatted with the drivers, being quite pleased to meet comrades we had not seen since Ilminster – but they brought bad news. On 5 May, a German tommy gun had killed R.S.M. Frost. He was our first casualty.

			We re-­joined the battalion at Bibiche, which was then battalion headquarters. I shall never forget the ride there. We were crowded into fifteen cwt trucks and taken over the worst, most bumpy, roads in the Moselle. Sometimes they took the wrong road and sometimes they very nearly left the road, but somehow we arrived at Bibiche intact.

			

			Bibiche was a hole. You must forgive me but that is the only way to describe it. It was a hole – a cesspool of medieval stink, consisting of broken-­down hovels and dung heaps. The billets had recently been occupied by French troops whose ideas were not very advanced in the way of sanitation. As soon as I arrived, I started to look around for my pal, Gus. I found him busy at the back of his billet. It was washing day. He was boiling what appeared to be half his kit in a large iron pot. Greeting me, he proceeded to show me his billet – and the pigs in the sty next door.

			Nearby a couple of men were burning some straw the French had left behind and which was full of live ammunition. The straw blazed furiously, the rounds exploded, and bullets flew in all directions, but the two men seemed to be enjoying it. I asked Gus what company he was in and he reminded me he was in D Company. On my return to where I had left the rest of the First Line Reinforcements, I found they were falling in prior to being detailed to various companies. Sergeant Major Butler was in charge and an officer from D Company stood by. He wanted men who had been in D Company before. C.S.M. Butler called for them and several men stepped forward. It was my chance to get back with Gus and I seized the opportunity.

			‘Have you been in D Company before?’ asked the officer, knowing full well that I hadn’t been.

			‘No, sir,’ I replied, ‘but I’d like to.’

			‘Alright,’ he said. ‘But you’re the last.’

			

			And so I joined the ranks of D Company, thinking that even if Sergeant Major Butler had put me in his awkward squad, he was not such a bad fellow after all.

			That night I slept above the company office until I was awakened in the early hours by an air raid. The planes were not attacking us although they were twisting and turning upstairs while the ack-­ack [anti-­aircraft fire] thumped, making a devil of a noise.

			The next day, strange to say, was set aside for gimping up. It was pay day so all the gimping up I did consisted of buying a couple of bottles of beer at the regimental canteen and departing with Gus for a little stroll to admire the scenery. We sat by a stream and discussed things in general. Gus, by the way, was in a different platoon. He explained that two companies would go up to the lines for five days and then return for five days’ rest, being relieved by another two companies and so on. When I asked him what conditions were like up there, he told me that they had had quite a lot of excitement during the last spell, mostly from enemy patrols creeping round the barbed wire in the dead of night. He then described our machine gun posts, which were in dugouts, each with two machine guns. Guarding the rear were grenade posts, for we were just as likely to be attacked from the rear as from the front. To get there he said, you had to go through Bouzonville Forest. You were liable to be attacked before you ever got there for Bouzonville Forest was notorious for its mud, its snipers – and its cuckoos. I had already heard about these ‘cuckoos’ from one of the other fellows who was convinced that they were not real cuckoos at all but German snipers signalling to German patrols. I was much impressed by what Gus had to tell me. He concluded by saying all one would ever read about it in the papers was ‘Slight patrol activity in the Moselle’ – and that would be that.

			

			I understood D Company would not be going into action for at least three days – but that only proved how little I knew. My sense of security was rudely disturbed next morning, 11 May, when we received orders to pack up and get on trucks. We quickly loaded up, piled in and pushed off down narrow lanes and across rutted fields, stopping by the edge of a large wood. Gun kit was got out and made ready to be carried into position. I was detailed to carry a box of ammunition. This was no easy task for there were about nine inches of mud to wade through, nearly half a mile to hike and, on top of that, the sun beat down pitilessly.

			We skirted the wood for a good way, passing a stationary Bren Carrier, which reminded me of a deadly spider lurking ready to pounce. We cut through the wood. It was my first experience of a French forest. Until then I had not realised how bad they could be. So dense were the trees overhead that, despite the brilliant sunshine, it was semi-­dark. There was a lot of work to do when we got to our gun positions. It was like everything else the French had left behind. The gun pits had to be rebuilt to suit our Vickers guns, the roofs had to be made higher and re-­camouflaged, and the communication trench had to be bailed out. This, I was informed, was the ‘recoil line’.1

			That night, those who were not standing to2 – including me – slept in a small mud hut we found a little further back in the forest. Our sleep, however, was interrupted for no sooner had we settled down than an artillery battery opened up and continued firing at intervals, making the night sound horrible.

			

			We stayed in the recoil line long enough for me to get lost in the forest. It happened on the second day when, with Simes and another chap, I went back to platoon HQ to collect the rations. Instead of following the usual roundabout path, we decided to take a short­cut straight through the forest. We thought it would save us a good deal of time, but we soon found out our mistake. We walked for some distance but not a sign of platoon HQ could we find – not even its approximate position at the edge of the forest. We halted and looked around hopelessly but all we could find were a dozen paths leading in a dozen different directions, while all around us was a blank wall of green.

			Simes insisted on going one way while his pal was confident the other way was the right one. I, of course, believed them both wrong and was quite certain that a third path would take us to our destination. Needless to say, we were all wrong, so I suggested we walk round in widening circles until one of us saw something he recognised. Simes was the first to spot it. He recognised a queer-­shaped tree at the bend of a path, so we altered our course in that direction.
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